IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. AGYEI J. MCDANIEL, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY The Honorable Vicki L. Hogan, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney for Appellant

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI Attorney at Law P.O. Box 761 Manchester, WA 98353 (360) 876-2736

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Under the rules of statutory construction, the rule of lenity and In re the Personal Restraint of Andress, RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b) must be interpreted to apply only to assault predicates which are separate from the act causing the death.
- 2. Appellant's conviction of second degree felony murder violates his State and Federal constitutional rights to equal protection and fundamental fairness.
- 3. The trial court's exclusion of relevant evidence violated appellant's constitutional right to present a complete defense.
- 4. Trial counsel's failure to object to damaging propensity evidence denied appellant effective representation.

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

1. The only way to avoid an absurd and nonsensical result and comply with the rule of lenity is to interpret the current second degree felony murder statute so as to permit conviction based upon the predicate crime of assault only if the assault is not the conduct which results in the death. Should this Court so interpret the statute, and should the conviction be reversed where the predicate assault in this case was the conduct which caused the death?

1

¹ 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002).

- 2. Does the current second degree felony murder statute violate equal protection where there is no limit to the prosecutor's discretion to charge a higher crime for the same acts and no basis for treating similarly situated defendants differently? Further, does it offend fundamental principles of fairness to allow such unfettered discretion to arbitrarily select which defendant faces far greater punishment for the exact same act?
- 3. In support of his claim of self-defense appellant offered expert testimony that the gang the deceased was affiliated with had a reputation for committing violent crimes. Appellant knew of the gang affiliation and of the gang's reputation and argued that the expert testimony was necessary for the jury to evaluate the circumstances known to appellant at the time of the shooting. Did exclusion of this relevant, admissible evidence violate appellant's constitutional right to present a complete defense?
- 4. The court admitted evidence of the circumstances surrounding a prior shooting for which appellant was convicted, in order to impeach a statement made by appellant's wife on the stand. Although the court ruled that the impeachment evidence could not connect appellant to the prior incident, the prosecutor's line of inquiry made it clear that

appellant was the shooter. Did defense counsel's failure to object to the damaging propensity evidence constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On December 6, 2012, the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney charged Appellant Agyei McDaniel with one count of second degree murder, alleging that he was armed with a firearm, and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree. CP 1-2; RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a); RCW 9.41.040(2)(a). The State amended the information to include felony murder as an alternative means to intentional murder. CP 154-55; RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b).

The case proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Vicki L. Hogan. The jury returned guilty verdicts on both counts and found McDaniel was armed with a firearm. CP 280-82. The jury answered special interrogatories indicating the jurors did not unanimously agree that McDaniel committed intentional murder but unanimously agreed he caused the death in the course of or in furtherance of a felony assault. CP 283.

The court imposed a high end standard range sentence of 254 months, plus a 60-month firearm enhancement, for a total sentence of 314

months on the murder charge. It imposed a concurrent sentence of 12 months on the firearm charge. CP 314-15. McDaniel filed this timely appeal. CP 361.

2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

On December 4, 2012, Agyei McDaniel shot Patrick Nicholas. He has never denied the shooting, asserting that he acted in self-defense. Nicholas died as a result of the gunshot wounds, and the State charged McDaniel with second degree murder. RP 248, 343; CP 154-55.

McDaniel and Nicholas had been close friends for more than ten years. RP 628. Their wives are cousins, and McDaniel and Nicholas thought of themselves as brothers. RP 203-04, 250, 631, 805. Like brothers they occasionally argued, but they had never come to physical blows, and they always reconciled. RP 206-07, 250, 631-32, 837.

Yet, McDaniel knew Nicholas to be violent with others. RP 633. He had seen Nicholas get into fights, and he had witnessed Nicholas pistol whip a man over a parking space dispute. RP 633. McDaniel saw Nicholas act that way more than once, but he assumed, because of their close relationship, that Nicholas never posed a threat to him. RP 634. That changed on December 4, 2012.

McDaniel rented a storage unit at a Public Storage facility in Tacoma. When Nicholas separated from his wife in July 2012, he moved

some belongings into McDaniel's unit and helped pay the rental fees. RP 212. In December, McDaniel decided to close out his unit because he could no longer afford the fees, and he tried contacting Nicholas to ask him to move his belongings. RP 635-36. Nicholas did not answer his phone or return any of McDaniel's calls, which upset McDaniel. RP 636-37, 829. He knew he needed to move everything out of the unit before December 5 or it would be forfeited. RP 637. Finally, on December 3, McDaniel's wife, Angela McDaniel, called Nicholas's wife, Korrin Tennyson, and explained the situation. RP 209. Tennyson told Angela² she would get Nicholas to the storage facility the next day. RP 210.

Nicholas had been sick the week before, and he still was not feeling well. He did not want to move his items from the storage unit, but McDaniel and Tennyson insisted, and that upset Nicholas. RP 208, 213, 256. Nonetheless, he called McDaniel on December 4, and they agreed to meet at the storage facility. RP 638.

When McDaniel and his 10-year-old son Antonio arrived at the storage facility, Nicholas's car was parked in the lot. Tennyson was in the car, and Nicholas was in the office. RP 590, 639-40. McDaniel went through the gate to his storage unit, then walked back to the office to meet Nicholas. RP 591, 639-40. McDaniel thought Nicholas might be

² McDaniel's wife and son are referred to by their first names to avoid confusion. No disrespect is intended.

5

arranging to have McDaniel's storage unit switched to his name, so that he would not have to move his belongings, and he thought Nicholas was waiting for him. RP 641. When McDaniel started talking to Nicholas, however, Nicholas made a gesture with his hand. McDaniel could tell Nicholas was upset, but he did not know why. RP 641-42. McDaniel followed Nicholas outside, asking what they were going to do, but Nicholas did not respond. He just got in his car and proceeded to the storage unit. RP 643.

Once in front of McDaniel's storage unit, Nicholas and McDaniel started arguing, yelling back and forth at each other. RP 216, 594, 643. Nicholas was angry that McDaniel had made him come down to move his things, and McDaniel responded that he had no choice. RP 644. The argument was pretty intense, and Tennyson texted Angela and told her she thought Nicholas and McDaniel might start fighting. RP 235, RP 257-58. Angela responded that she did not think that would happen, but she was not there at the time to see the argument. RP 235, 258.

McDaniel and Antonio proceeded to load McDaniel's El Camino, while McDaniel and Nicholas continued to argue. RP 649-50. Tennyson and her son went to the next building where she had a storage unit. RP 218. Once she had made room for Nicholas's belongings, she walked back to McDaniel's unit to ask Nicholas to help her. RP 231. Nicholas

and McDaniel were still arguing, and Nicholas was not helping McDaniel move. RP 232. Tennyson walked back to her unit. RP 233.

McDaniel and Antonio finished loading the El Camino and got in the car to leave. Nicholas walked behind the car, following them all the way through the gate. He was still making comments to McDaniel. RP 594-95. Antonio felt nervous, and he thought Nicholas might do something because he was so mad. RP 596. He was yelling, and he had his hands in his pockets. RP 597. McDaniel felt that the way Nicholas had his hands in his pockets looked like he was clutching something. He was motioning with his hands but not taking his hands out of his pockets. RP 650. Since he knew Nicholas to carry a gun, he had an overwhelming feeling that Nicholas was pointing a gun at him through the pocket. RP 650-51. Nicholas was acting really mad, and McDaniel was nervous and scared, especially with his son there. RP 651.

The only time McDaniel had seen Nicholas behave that aggressively in the past was when he was smoking PCP-dipped cigarettes. At those times, Nicholas would not perceive situations as they were really happening, becoming aggressive when he mistakenly thought people were saying things about him. RP 652. Nicholas's behavior reminded McDaniel of those previous situations, and McDaniel felt very vulnerable around him. RP 653. He believed that he would be shot. RP 653.

McDaniel told Nicholas not to do something he would regret, then he drove away. RP 655.

After McDaniel left, Nicholas moved his car to Tennyson's storage unit. He told Tennyson that McDaniel had left and locked his unit, so they had to wait until he returned to get their stuff, and he was angry about that. RP 233, 235.

McDaniel drove home and unloaded his car. When Angela got home, he told her what was going on and that he was nervous about returning to the storage unit because he did not know what Nicholas would do. RP 660, 672. Eventually McDaniel decided to return, and he asked Angela to go with him. RP 672. They went in separate cars, Angela driving the El Camino and McDaniel driving their Grand Am. RP 674.

After Nicholas and Tennyson had worked in their storage unit for 30 to 45 minutes, Nicholas said, "I'm going to go see if this bitch ass nigga is here." RP 264. He walked back to McDaniel's unit. RP 234.

When McDaniel arrived at the storage facility, he did not see Nicholas's car, and he was relieved, thinking Nicholas had left. But as he pulled up to his storage unit, McDaniel saw Nicholas pacing back and forth, talking on his cell phone. RP 674. Nicholas looked mad. RP 808. As soon as McDaniel got out of his car, Nicholas started calling him names. RP 677. McDaniel became frightened again, because he had to

walk past Nicholas to unlock the unit, and Nicholas was clearly mad. Nicholas did not back up or give McDaniel space to move, and he was still shouting. RP 677-78. Nicholas had his hands in his pockets at that point, and McDaniel again thought Nicholas was going to pistol whip or shoot him. RP 677. Once he had the door unlocked, McDaniel started responding to Nicholas's comments. Whatever name Nicholas called McDaniel, McDaniel called Nicholas. McDaniel told Nicholas he was there to move his things and he suggested Nicholas do the same. RP 679.

Like Tennyson, Angela noticed that the argument between Nicholas and McDaniel was more hostile than usual. RP 811, 828, 838. Although Nicholas did not say he had a gun, Angela heard him threaten McDaniel, daring him to make a move. RP 832-33. She perceived Nicholas's words as a threat to kill, and she was very scared. RP 833.

McDaniel walked inside his storage unit, turning sideways to squeeze through a narrow pathway. He was uncomfortable turning away from Nicholas, because Nicholas still had his hands in his pockets, and McDaniel was afraid he would be shot. RP 687.

McDaniel and Nicholas continued to exchange insults, and Nicholas referred to Angela as a "stupid bitch." RP 831. Then Nicholas started moving quickly toward McDaniel, asking McDaniel what he was going to do. RP 690-91, 814. Although Nicholas never fully pulled a gun

out of his pocket, McDaniel saw something brown and silver, which he assumed was a gun. Nicholas's hand was half in and half out of his pocket, and McDaniel could tell it was wrapped around something. RP 719-20. McDaniel, afraid he would be shot, pulled a gun out of the holster in front of his pants and fired at Nicholas. RP 691. McDaniel thought his first shot had missed, and he believed he needed to fire again to keep from getting shot, so he fired the gun a second time. RP 692-93. RP 693. After the second shot, Nicholas fell to the ground. RP 694.

When Angela first heard the shots, she panicked and thought about running, because she thought Nicholas had killed McDaniel. RP 815. Then she saw Nicholas stumbling out of the storage unit. RP 811, 815. Nicholas fell to the ground, and McDaniel came out of the unit, tripping on something as he moved. RP 817.

Tennyson heard the two gunshots from where she was waiting in her car, and she ran over to McDaniel's storage unit. RP 237-38. As she came around the corner she saw Nicholas on the ground. RP 241. Angela was standing in front of the storage unit, and McDaniel was walking away, putting a gun in his pocket. RP 242. Tennyson ran to Nicholas and saw that he had been shot in the shoulder and head. RP 243-44. She screamed and asked McDaniel what he had done. McDaniel responded that Nicholas had run up on him. RP 244, 698, 817.

McDaniel told Angela to get in the Grand Am. He felt he needed to leave quickly because he did not know who Nicholas had been talking to on the phone. He thought someone might be coming and that he was in danger. RP 697-98. He also felt that if he was standing there when police arrived, he would be shot. RP 699. Angela started getting in the El Camino, but McDaniel yelled at her to get in the Grand Am. They left together in the Grand Am, leaving the El Camino behind, as Tennyson called 911. RP 244-46, 699, 818.

The manager of the storage facility heard the shots and some screaming, and she stepped out of the office to see what was happening. She saw Nicholas on the ground with Tennyson leaning over him. RP 318-20, 343. She saw Angela reaching into the El Camino. RP 321. She then went back inside the office and called 911, and she hid in the hallway until police arrived. RP 322-23.

McDaniel drove directly home. He ran upstairs and packed a black duffle bag with some clothing and told Antonio and his younger son to get ready to leave. RP 699-700. The boys could tell that both their parents were upset. RP 600. McDaniel, Angela, and the two boys got in the Grand Am and drove away from the house. RP 601, 819.

After making a few stops in Tacoma, McDaniel drove to his cousin's house in Federal Way. RP 602, 703-04, 819. While there he

unloaded some boxes from his car so the children had room to sit in the back seat. RP 704, 820. McDaniel told his cousin something bad had happened with one of his friends and he needed to get out of town. They were back on the road within 20 minutes. RP 704, 820.

They continued heading north, with Angela driving. RP 604, 705. They made stops for gas and for food, they stopped in Seattle to withdraw money from an ATM, and they stopped at a drugstore where McDaniel bought some hair clippers so he could change his appearance. RP 603, 706-08, 821-23. While in Seattle, McDaniel sold his gun for \$100. RP 709.

McDaniel had only packed socks and underwear in the duffle bag, so they stopped at a Walmart to buy a change of clothes for everyone. RP 710-11, 822. The boys were tired, so they stopped at a motel in Arlington. RP 711, 788, 823. While there, McDaniel thought about hanging himself, but he did not want his wife or children to find him like that. RP 711-12. Angela convinced him that he needed to turn himself in. RP 712-13, 823-24. She helped him cut his hair, because he did not want to go to jail with long hair. RP 604, 709, 824.

The next morning they headed back toward Tacoma. McDaniel spoke to a deacon at his church, asking advice about turning himself in, and he made arrangements to meet with his pastor. RP 714, 824.

McDaniel wanted more time with his family before going to jail, so they stopped in Southcenter to see a movie. RP 605, 715, 824-25. After the movie they drove to the church. RP 605, 716, 826. McDaniel met with his pastor and then called the police. RP 718-19, 826. The police came and arrested McDaniel at the church. RP 498, 606, 719, 826.

At trial, the medical examiner who performed the autopsy testified that Nicholas was shot twice. The fatal wound was a penetrating gunshot to the front right side of the head, toward the top. RP 393, 441. There was another gunshot wound to the left shoulder, but it was not fatal. RP 394. Both shots appeared to have been fired from more than 24 inches away. RP 398, 405. The shot to the head caused immediate loss of voluntary control and consciousness. RP 414. If Nicholas was moving at the time of the injury, he would have continued moving after the gunshot due to momentum, and it could have appeared as though he was stumbling, but he could not have moved his legs to take any steps. RP 415, 444. It was not possible to tell from the wounds which gunshot occurred first. RP 437.

Police found a gun in the outer right breast pocket of the jacket Nicholas was wearing. The gun was loaded with live .22 caliber ammunition. RP 120, 163. A holster was also found on Nicholas's belt

which appeared to match his gun. RP 126, 136, 176. The gun was tested at the crime lab and found to be operable. RP 571-72.

No blood was found inside the storage unit. RP 108. There was a pool of blood ten to 15 feet from the back of the El Camino. RP 111. Medics found Nicholas in the pool of blood and moved his body away from the blood to work on him. RP 111, 183. McDaniel testified that he remembered Nicholas falling to the ground where the blood was found. RP 696.

A spent bullet was found under a hat collected from the scene. RP 115, 483. The hat had a defect which could have been a bullet hole, although there was no gunshot residue on the hat. RP 121, 568-69. The medical examiner recovered bullet fragments from inside Nicholas's head, which were consistent with either .38 or .357 magnum ammunition. RP 403-04, 501. A box of .357 magnum ammunition was found in a drawer of female clothes in an armoire in the master bedroom of McDaniel's house. RP 373, 377.

Although there were surveillance cameras all around the storage facility, the cameras closest to McDaniel's unit were pointed downward instead of out, and they did not capture the incident. RP 300. McDaniel knew there were surveillance cameras at the facility and believed when he talked to police that everything that happened at his unit would be caught

on camera. He had no way of knowing the cameras outside his unit were not functioning properly. RP 791-92. Surveillance footage showed the cars entering and leaving through the gate and McDaniel and Nicholas in the office. RP 486-90. The video showed Nicholas, wearing the jacket with the gun in it, following McDaniel's car all the way to the gate as McDaniel described. RP 536, 539.

Police found the hair clippers McDaniel had bought in a duffle bag in the trunk of McDaniel's car after he was arrested. RP 133. They also found a cell phone in the car and tracked the location of the phone from the time of the shooting until McDaniel's arrest by the cell phone towers that were accessed when calls were made. RP 504-05. The locations were consistent with the locations described by McDaniel, his son, and his wife. RP 509-10, 514, 602-05, 704-16, 819-25.

The parties stipulated that prior to December 4, 2012, McDaniel had been convicted of a felony which was not a serious offense, and because of that conviction he was prohibited from possessing a firearm. RP 470.

The court instructed the jury on self-defense and on the alternative means of intentional murder and felony murder based on assault, in addition to unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 246-79. The jury returned guilty verdicts. Although the State's theory was that the shooting

was an intentional "execution," the jury did not unanimously agree that the killing was intentional. RP 979; CP 283.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. MCDANIEL'S CONDUCT DID NOT VIOLATE THE SECOND DEGREE FELONY MURDER STATUTE, AND HIS CONVICTION MUST BE DISMISSED.

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