NO. 44972-2-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

AGYEL JUMANNE McDANIEL, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Vicki Hogan

No. 12-1-04543-9

Brief of Respondent

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
Thomas C. Roberts
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE SECOND DEGREE FELONY MURDER STATUTE IS NOT AMBIGUOUS; THE 2003 AMENDMENT AND ITS ACCOMPANYING STATEMENT OF INTENT MAKE CLEAR THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT FOR ASSAULT TO BE A PREDICATE FELONY.

- a. Defendant has not preserved the issue for review.

An appellate court "may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). "The rule comes from the principle that trial counsel and the defendant are obligated to seek a remedy to errors as they occur, or shortly thereafter." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). To raise an issue for the first time on appeal, an appellant must "identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the [appellant]'s rights at trial." *Id.* at 98 quoting *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988); see also *State v. Lynn*, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). The court must then determine if the error is manifest; that is, if the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. *Lynn* 67 Wn. App. at 345. Even where defendant identifies an alleged

constitutional error, the Court may refuse to review it if the error is not manifest. *State v. Haq*, 166 Wn. App. 221, 246, 268 P.3d 997 (2012).

Here, defendant failed to object below to the charge of felony murder. 1 RP 8–9. Defendant now argues, for the first time on appeal, that the statute by which he was charged was ambiguous. Defendant does not claim any of the three conditions listed under RAP 2.5(a) in which an issue may be raised for the first time on appeal. Notably, defendant fails to claim that the alleged ambiguity in the felony murder statute is a constitutional error that may be considered for the first time on appeal.³ Because defendant failed to object below and now improperly petitions the Court to review the issue for the first time on appeal, the matter is not properly before this Court.

- b. The 2003 amendment and accompanying statement of intent make clear the legislature's intent for assault to be a predicate felony.

Until the decision in *In Re Personal Restraint Petition of Address*, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002), the Washington State Supreme Court consistently rejected arguments that the merger doctrine should preclude the use of a felony assault as a predicate crime for felony murder. *State v. Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d 301, 588 P.2d 1320 (1978); *State v. Roberts*, 88 Wn.2d 337, 344 n.4, 562 P.2d 1259 (1977); *State v.*

³ See Br.App. at 1 (Assignment of Error #1), pp. 16–21.

Thompson, 88 Wn.2d 13, 558 P.2d 202, *appeal dismissed for want of federal question*, 434 U.S. 898 (1977); *State v. Harris*, 69 Wn.2d 928, 421 P.2d 662 (1966). These decisions made it clear that the use of assault as a predicate felony presented an issue that was a question of legislative intent rather than one of constitutional dimension. See *Thompson*, 88 Wn.2d at 17-18.

Moreover, early Supreme Court cases indicated that the 1975 criminal code revisions, which were effective July 1, 1976, had not changed the Court's view on whether the assault merger doctrine should be applied to Washington's felony murder statute. *State v. Thompson*, 88 Wn.2d at 17 ("the statutory context in question here was left unchanged."); *Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d at 313 (Hicks, J., concurring) (Legislature did not modify *Harris* rule with the new 1976 criminal code).

Later decisions likewise applied the *Harris* reasoning to the current felony murder statute. *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 333, 804 P.2d 10, *cert. denied*, 501 U.S. 1237 (1991) (citing *Wanrow* and *Thompson* and refusing to reconsider assault merger rule or constitutional challenges to felony murder); *State v. Leech*, 114 Wn.2d 700, 712, 790 P.2d 160 (1990) (refusing to reconsider *Wanrow* and constitutional challenges to felony murder rule); *State v. Johnson*, 92 Wn.2d 671, 681 n.6, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979) (recognizing that the *Harris* interpretation applied to new statute because the Legislature did not act to overrule it);

State v. Davis, 121 Wn.2d 1, 7, n.5, 846 P.2d 527 (1993) (recognizing third degree assault could be predicate for felony murder); *State v. Tamalini*, 134 Wn.2d 725, 734, 953 P.2d 450 (1998) (recognizing second and third degree assault as predicate offenses for felony murder).

In *In Re Personal Restraint Petition of Andress*, however, the Court made it clear that the comments it had made in *Wanrow*, *Thompson*, and *Roberts* were not equivalent to actually analyzing the changes to the statutory language and held that it had not, in fact, previously analyzed whether the changes to the statute enacted in 1975 somehow signaled a legislative intent to exclude felony assault as a predicate for felony murder. *Andress*, 147 Wn.2d at 609-616. The Court in *Andress* interpreted that the legislative addition of the “in furtherance of” language to the felony murder statutes signaled an intent by the legislature to remove assault as a predicate felony from the felony murder rule. *Id.* at 616.

Following the *Andress* decision, however, the legislature amended the second degree felony murder statute, effective February 12, 2003, to expressly declare that assault is included among the predicate crimes under the second degree felony murder statute. Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 2. The statute proscribing felony murder in the second degree now reads, in the relevant part:

(1) A person is guilty of murder in the second degree when:

(b) He or she commits or attempts to commit any felony, *including assault*, other than those enumerated in RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c), and, in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom, he or she, or another participant, causes the death of a person other than one of the participants;

RCW 9A.32.050 (emphasis added).

In Washington, the determination of whether felony assault can be a predicate felony for the felony murder statute has always been an issue of legislative intent rather than a constitutional question:

[W]e are now firmly convinced that adoption of the merger doctrine is not compelled either by principles of sound statutory construction or by the state or federal constitutions, and that adoption of the doctrine by this court would be an unwarranted and insupportable invasion of the legislative function in defining crimes. We therefore reaffirm this court's refusal to apply the doctrine of merger to the crime of felony-murder in this state.

Wanrow, 91 Wn.2d at 303.

Thus, whether a felony assault can act as a predicate for felony murder is a question of legislative intent. *See also In Re Personal Restraint Petition of Bowman*, 162 Wn.2d 325, 335, 172 P.3d 681 (2007). The legislature made its intent in amending RCW 9A.32.050 clear by enacting an intent statement; stating, in part:

The legislature finds that the 1975 legislature clearly and unambiguously stated that any felony, including assault, can be a predicate offense for felony murder. The intent was evident: Punish, under the applicable murder statutes, those who commit a homicide in the course and in furtherance of a felony. This legislature reaffirms that original intent and further intends to honor and reinforce the court's decisions over the past twenty-eight years interpreting "in furtherance of" as requiring the death to be sufficiently close in time and proximity to the predicate felony. ***The legislature does not agree with or accept the court's findings of legislative intent in State v. Andress,[sic] Docket No. 71170-4 (October 24, 2002), and reasserts that assault has always been and still remains a predicate offense for felony murder in the second degree.***

Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1 (emphasis added).

Thus, for crimes committed after February 12, 2003, it is beyond dispute that the legislature intended "that assault *is* included as a predicate crime under the second degree felony murder statute." ***Bowman***, 162 Wn.2d at 335; Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1.

It is equally clear that the Legislature did not agree with the ***Andress*** court's interpretation of its prior intent and sought to nullify the impact of the ***Andress*** decision with the 2003 amendment.

Thus, the defendant's argument, which seeks to interpret the current felony murder statute in accord with the principles stated in the ***Andress*** decision, *see* Br.App. at 17–18, ignores the legislative statement of intent. The legislature did not want to incorporate the principles announced in ***Andress***, it wanted to render them moot. The Legislature does not agree with the majority opinion in ***Andress*** that including assault

as a predicate felony for felony murder leads to “absurd results.” Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1. The “legislative branch has the power to define criminal conduct and assign punishment for such conduct,” *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776, 888 P.2d 155 (1995) (citing *Whalen v. United States*, 445 U.S. 684, 689, 100 S. Ct. 1432, 63 L. Ed. 2d 715 (1980)), and the Legislature has made its intent clear that it wants felony assault to function as a predicate offense for the felony murder statute.

Essentially, defendant is now asking this Court to find that the principles articulated in the majority opinion of *Andress* should be applied to his conviction despite the fact that his offense date was December 5, 2012, years after the legislative amendments designed to stop the impact of *Andress* went into effect. Thus, defendant asks this Court to re-interpret the legislature's clear intent and limit felony murder to instances where assault is separate from the act causing death. This Court should decline such an invitation to violate the separation of powers and affirm defendant's conviction.

Indeed, this was precisely the holding of Division 1 of this Court in *State v. Gordon*, 153 Wn. App. 516, 526-29, 223 P.3d 519 (2009), *rev'd on other grounds*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 260 P.3d 884 (2011). In *Gordon*, a case which also arose from Pierce County Superior Court, the Court rejected virtually the same argument advanced by the defendant here. There, as here, the defendant argued that “under canons... of statutory construction and the rule of lenity, this court should interpret the second

degree felony murder statute to allow assault to serve as the predicate felony only where the assault is not also the act that causes the death.” *Gordon*, 153 Wn. App. at 527. Compare Br.App. at 19–21. However, the Court concluded that:

[t]he [second-degree felony murder] statute is not ambiguous. But, even if we assume the statute was ambiguous and look at the legislative history of the statute as *Gordon* urges, we see that the *res gestae* issue is no longer problematic. The reasoning in *Andress* concerning *res gestae* involved statutory construction principles to derive the legislature’s intent. *The 2003 amendment in response to the holding in Andress and its accompanying statement of intent make it clear the legislature wants assault to be a predicate felony.*

Id. at 529 (emphasis added).

Defendant argues that *Gordon* "was not well-reasoned and does not withstand scrutiny." Br.App. at 19. But the court's opinion in *Gordon* simply reemphasized what the legislature already made clear when it enacted its statement of intent in 2003 and *expressly rejected Andress'* findings of legislative intent: "[A]ssault has always been and still remains a predicate offense for felony murder in the second degree." Laws of 2003, ch. 3, § 1. The *Gordon* court incorporated, rather than ignored, the Supreme Court's holding in *Bowman*, which recognized that "following our decision in *Andress*, the legislature amended the second degree felony murder statute, effective February 12, 2003, to clarify that assault is included as a predicate crime under the second degree felony murder statute." *Bowman*, 162 Wn.2d 325 at 335. As with *Gordon*, this Court

should similarly decline this defendant's invitation to usurp a legislative function and impose the merger doctrine by judicial fiat. It should affirm defendant's conviction.

2. A PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S DISCRETION TO CHARGE FELONY MURDER INSTEAD OF INTENTIONAL MURDER DOES NOT VIOLATE EQUAL PROTECTION.

Where the prosecuting attorney has the discretion to charge crimes that require proof of different elements, there is no equal protection violation. *State v. Leech*, 114 Wn.2d at 711; *State v. Wanrow*, 91 Wn.2d at 311. This is true where the elements of felony murder differ from those of first degree manslaughter. *State v. Parr*, 93 Wn.2d 95, 97, 606 P.2d 263 (1980). This is true where the prosecuting attorney chooses between alternative means of the same crime. See, *State v. Belleman*, 70 Wn. App. 778, 784, 856 P.2d 403 (1993) (alternative means of assault in the third degree); and *State v. Armstrong*, 143 Wn. App. 333, 178 P.3d 1048 (2008) (alternative means of murder in the second degree).

Defendant's equal protection argument was adversely decided in *State v. Armstrong*, 143 Wn. App. 333, 178 P.3d 1048 (2008). Armstrong was charged with second-degree intentional murder and felony murder predicated on assault arising from the same act. The jury found him guilty.

As in the current case, Armstrong argued that the statute permitted the prosecutor to arbitrarily charge felony murder rather than intentional murder. *Id.* at 339; Br.App. at 23. He also argued that it was unfair and overly harsh for felony murder and intentional murder to be punished equally. *Id.* at 343.

In holding that the felony murder statute does not violate equal protection, the Court of Appeals found that those charged under the statute do not constitute a suspect or semi-suspect class. *Id.* at 335. In *Armstrong*, the Court of Appeals noted that the Washington Supreme Court has previously ruled against equal protection challenges to the felony murder statute in *Wanrow* and *Leech*. There, the defendants complained of the prosecutor's discretion to charge felony murder instead of manslaughter.

Here, although defendant correctly cites *Armstrong* for the proposition that "[w]hen the crimes have different elements, the prosecutor's discretion is not arbitrary, but is constrained by which elements can be proved under the circumstances," defendant overlooks that *Armstrong* found that manslaughter and felony murder have different elements and that "second degree intentional murder and second degree felony murder based on assault have different elements." Br.App. at 24; *Armstrong*, 143 Wn. App. at 341. *Armstrong* continued, "[t]he intent to commit the assault (which proximately causes death) and the intent to

cause a death are different, requiring different proof" and concluded that "[b]ecause the two statutes require proof of different elements, they do not violate equal protection under this alternative test." *Id.* at 341–42.

Charging intentional murder or felony murder, or both in the alternative, is not charging different crimes with different punishments. They are alternative means of committing the same crime. *See, State v. Ramos*, 163 Wn. 2d 654, 184 P.3d 1256 (2008). They have the same punishment. RCW 9.94A.525(9). The harshness of the sentence is a matter of public policy for the Legislature to decide. It is not an equal protection violation.

3. DEFENDANT WAS NOT DENIED THE RIGHT TO PRESENT A COMPLETE DEFENSE WHERE THE TRIAL COURT EXCLUDED IRRELEVANT EXPERT TESTIMONY OF GANG CULTURE.

a. The appropriate standard of review is for abuse of discretion.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 463, 258 P.3d 873 (2012); *see also In re Detention of Coe*, 175 Wn.2d 482, 492, 286 P.3d 29 (2012) (admissibility of handwriting expert's signature analysis under 404(b) reviewed for abuse of discretion); *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 359, 229 P.3d 669 (2010) (admissibility of domestic violence expert's testimony reviewed for abuse of discretion); *State v. C.J.*, 148 Wn.2d 672, 688, 63 P.3d 765 (2003) (trial court is necessarily vested with considerable

discretion in evaluating indicia of reliability; admissibility of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion).

Several courts have grappled with the appropriate standard of review when a defendant claims his constitutional right to present a defense has been violated, predicated upon the trial court's determination regarding the admissibility of evidence. For example, in *State v. Howard*, 127 Wn. App. 862, 113 P.3d 511 (2005), defendant was convicted of first degree robbery and first degree burglary. *Id.* at 865. On appeal, defendant argued that, because the trial court excluded evidence that another individual participated in the robbery, defendant's constitutional right to present a defense was denied. *Id.* at 866. Division One of the Court of Appeals found that the proper standard of review was for an abuse of discretion, reasoning:

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